NO. 69279-8

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JAY C. NYKOL,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, EMPLOYMENT SECURITIES DEPT.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

King County Superior Court Case No. 11-2-32402-8KNT



Richard J. Hughes, WSBA 22897 HUGHES LAW GROUP, PLLC 1202 S. 2nd Street, Suite A Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Telephone: 360-336-6120 Attorney for Appellant

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. FIRST ERROR:

The Commissioner erred by not finding and concluding that the employer failed to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability of alcoholism as required under RCW 49.60.180 when it

³ Despite acknowledging that Mr. Nykol possessed an interlock ignition license (IIL), **CP Sub 7 OAH pages 16-18 lines 19-1; page 48 section 3,** the employer erroneously asserted that Mr. Nykol did not have a valid Washington State driver's license. See **CP 10** Finding of Facts 5 and 7.

refused to sign a waiver of the interlock ignition device (IID) which would have allowed him to drive with his interlock ignition license, a valid, alternative license issued per RCW 46.20.385.

ISSUES:

- (I) Was Mr. Nykol's alcoholism a disability which required accommodation under Washington law?
- (II) Was the employer notified of the disability?
- (III) When Mr. Nykol asked his employer to sign the IID waiver under RCW 46.20.385 and it refused, did his employer fail to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability under RCW 49.60.180?

B. SECOND ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in not finding and concluding that the employer's failure to sign the IID waiver was the proximate cause of Mr. Nykol being unable to operate his employer's vehicle.

ISSUES:

- (I) In light of the employer's duty to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability was it foreseeable that Mr. Nykol's conduct (DUI and suspension of his regular license) would likely result in his inability to drive for his employer when persons with suspended licenses, like Mr. Nykol, are granted a valid license allowing them to drive?
- (II) In light of the employer's duty reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability, what was the

proximate cause of Mr. Nykol being unable to operate his employer's vehicle?

(III) In light of the employer's duty reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability, was the employer's refusal to sign the IID waiver an intervening cause or event such that Mr. Nykol's regular license suspension did not proximately cause his inability to drive?

C. THIRD ERROR:

Based upon errors one and two above, the ALJ's Conclusion

of Law 10 must also be error.

ISSUES:

(I) In light of the employer's duty to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability was it foreseeable that Mr. Nykol's conduct (DUI and suspension of his regular license) would likely result in his inability to drive for his employer when persons with suspended licenses are granted a valid license allowing them to drive?

Brief Answer:

As a matter of law, it was neither foreseeable nor likely ("probable" as defined in ALJ Conclusion 9) **CP 12,** that the employer would violate RCW 49.60.180 and refuse to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability. By refusing to sign a waiver of an ignition interlock device, (IID) which would have allowed Mr. Nykol to use his Interlock Ignition License to drive the employer's vehicles, the employer broke the causal chain of foreseeability, such that Mr. Nykol's conduct did not, as a matter of law, proximately cause his termination.⁴ The employer's refusal to sign a waiver of the interlock ignition device constituted a failure to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability in violation of RCW 49.60.180 and the failure to accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability proximately caused his termination. **CP 9-12**.

As a result, Mr. Nykol did not engage in misconduct and should not have been disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits.

D. FOURTH ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in denying unemployment benefits based upon RCW 50.20.066 which states ("alcoholism shall not

⁴ The ALJ correctly stated in Finding 7 ("If the employer executed a waiver permitting the claimant to drive without installation of an interlock device on the work vehicle the claimant would drive, he would be permitted, by law, to drive the company vehicles"). **CP 10.**

constitute a defense to disqualification from benefits due to misconduct.").

ISSUES:

- (I) Was Mr. Nykol terminated for his alcoholism?
- (II) Did Mr. Nykol have a valid driver's license such that he would have been qualified to work had the employer signed the IID waiver?

Brief Answer:

Mr. Nykol does not assert that alcoholism was the basis for his termination. Rather, the basis for his termination was the employer's refusal to allow Mr. Nykol to drive its vehicles. The employer alone determined whether Mr. Nykol could drive its vehicles. Unfortunately, its determination that Mr. Nykol could not drive its vehicles was wrong. If his employer had followed RCW 49.60.180 and accommodated Mr. Nykol's disability by signing a waiver of the Interlock Ignition Device, Mr. Nykol would have been allowed to drive for his employer and would not have been terminated.

E. FIFTH ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in denying Mr. Nykol unemployment benefits based upon RCW 50.01.010 (the preamble to the employment security act), which states "unemployment reserves used for the benefit of persons unemployed through no fault of their own..." by suggesting that "fault" unrelated to misconduct as defined by RCW 50.20.066 can form the basis to deny Mr. Nykol unemployment benefits.

ISSUES:

- (I) Does fault that does not arise to misconduct disqualify Mr. Nykol from receiving unemployment?
- (II) If so, was the employer at fault for rendering Mr. Nykol unable to drive when it refused to sign the IID waiver?
- (III) Did the employer's refusal to sign the waiver the proximate cause of Mr. Nykol being unable to drive for his employer?

F. SIXTH ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in denying Mr. Nykol unemployment benefits by errantly stating Mr. Nykol lost his license and as a result, the employer was no longer able to employ claimant in his position of Firefighter Driver/Operator.

ISSUES:

(I) Did the Commissioner err in denying Mr. Nykol unemployment benefits when the decision stated Mr. Nykol lost his license, and as a result, the employer was no longer able to employ claimant in his position of Firefighter Driver/Operator even though Mr. Nykol had a valid license and was fully capable of legally driving his employer's vehicle as reflected in Administrative Finding 7. CP 10.

G. SEVENTH ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in failing to find undisputed facts which, if viewed as a whole, would have changed the outcome of the decision. In particular, the Commissioner erred by not finding (a) Mr. Nykol suffered from alcoholism; (b) Mr. Nykol sought a reasonable accommodation in the form of asking his employer to sign a waiver of the IID; (c) Mr. Nykol never lost the legal right to drive or operate a motor vehicle; (d) the employer did not fire Mr. Nykol for any performance-related problem; and (e) the employer had numerous safeguards at its disposal to more than adequately ensure that Mr. Nykol would not consume alcohol and/or be under the influence, while at work.

ISSUES:

(I) Did the Commissioner err when he failed to find or errantly analyzed undisputed facts: (a) Mr. Nykol suffered from alcoholism; (b) Mr. Nykol sought a reasonable accommodation in the form of asking his employer to sign a waiver of the IID; (c) Nykol never lost the legal right to drive or operate a motor vehicle; (d) the employer did not fire Mr. Nykol for any performance-related problem; and (e) the employer had numerous safeguards at its disposal to more than adequately ensure that Mr. Nykol would not consume alcohol and/or be under the influence, while at work?

H. EIGHTH ERROR:

The Commissioner erred in adopting the ALJ's Finding of Fact 9, which stated, "the claimant was released from employment because he failed to meet the requirements of performing his job duties since he did not possess a Washington State Driver's License."

ISSUES:

(I) Did the Commissioner err in adopting the ALJ's Finding of Fact 9, which stated, "the claimant was released from employment because he failed to meet the requirements of performing his job duties since he did not possess a Washington State Driver's License"?

Brief Answer:

Mr. Nykol possessed a valid Washington State Driver's License, called an ignition interlock license.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW:

In this case, Mr. Nykol seeks review of the administrative decision based upon RCW 34.05.570(d) and (e). Subsection (d) allows for review if the agency erroneously interpreted or applied the law while subsection (e) allows for review if the order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter.

An agency's application of the law to a particular set of facts is subject to **de novo** review. *Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 494 (1993) (citing Henson v *Employment Sec. Dep't*,113 Wn.2d 374, 377, 779 P.2d 715 (1989) ("With mixed questions of law and fact, the court determines the correct law independent of the agency's decision and then applies it to the facts as found by the agency.") *Johnson v. Dep't of Employment Sec.*, 112 Wn.2d 172, 175, 769 P.2d 305 (1989) "The factual findings of the agency are entitled to the same level of deference which would be accorded under any other circumstance." *Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 122 Wn.2d at 403, 858 P.2d 494 (1993).⁵

At this stage, the burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on Mr. Nykol. RCW 34.05.570.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Nykol was employed as a firefighter for Boeing from December 1, 1988 through April 20, 2011. CP 9, (Finding of Fact 1); CP Sub 7 OAH page 13 lines 20-24. While on a leave of absence for a wrist injury Mr. Nykol was cited for Driving Under the Influence of alcohol (DUI) in September 2010. CP 10 (Finding of Fact 5); CP Sub 7 OAH page 21 lines 10-11; page 22 lines 8-9; page 28 lines 16-19. In December 2010, Mr. Nykol was given an

⁵ However, uncontroverted facts not formally found do not require a reweighing of evidence and can be reviewed de novo based upon the error of law standard. *Rasmussen v Employment Sec. Dept.*, 98 Wn. 2d 846, 850 ft. note 2, 658 P.2d 1240 (1983). Here, it was uncontroverted that: (1) Mr. Nykol had an Interlock Ignition License (IIL) that allowed him to legally drive his employer's vehicle had his employer signed a waiver of the IID; (2) Mr. Nykol was diagnosed with alcoholism; (3) he requested an accommodation to have his employer sign a waiver of the IID; (4) Mr. Nykol provided the employer with numerous safeguards to ensure that he was not under the influence of alcohol while working; and (5) the employer refused to consider Mr. Nykol's particular circumstances and instead relied on a blanket policy of refusing to sign a waiver despite it being authorized to do so under RCW 46.20.385.

alcohol assessment, was diagnosed with the disease of alcoholism and began a 30-day intensive outpatient program followed by a year-long prevention program. CP SUB 7 OAH page 26 lines 9-17; page 29 lines 3-5; page 30 lines 22-35; CP 10. Finding of Fact 8 (enrolled in treatment and AA).

Alcoholism is a disability as defined by RCW 49.60.040(7)(a) and defined by the American Medical Association (AMA) as "a primary, chronic disease with genetic, psychosocial, and environmental factors influencing its development and manifestations."

The AMA also sets forth the following policies:

H-30.995 Alcoholism as a Disability

1. The AMA believes it is important for professionals and laymen alike to recognize that alcoholism is in and of itself a disabling and handicapping condition. CP Sub 7 OAH page 29 lines 3-5; page 30 lines 22-25; CP 24.

In approximately January 2011, Mr. Nykol informed his third level manager, Tom Shinner, and later his second level manager, about his DUI; diagnosis of alcoholism; assessment; treatment and likely suspension of his regular driver's license.⁶ CP Sub 7 OAH pages 28-29 lines 6-12. At that time, Mr. Nykol also informed management that he would be given an interlock driver's license and would likely be placed on an ignition interlock device (IID) which would prevent his personal vehicle from starting without Mr. Nykol first passing a breathalyzer. CP Sub 7 OAH page 16-17 lines 19-1; page 17 lines 12-15; page 22 lines 11-17, 23-24; page 23 lines 12-16; page 29 lines 17-25; page 30 lines 4-14. Mr. Nykol also requested that his employer accommodate his disability by having it waive the requirement of placing the IID on its business vehicles. CP Sub 7 OAH page 29 lines 6-7; pages 23-

24 lines 9-17; page 31 lines 1-2.

Mr. Nykol also told his employer that it should have no concerns over his operation of any work vehicle because:

A. Prior to entering the employer's facility, Mr. Nykol had to drive to work. Mr. Nykol's personal vehicle was equipped with an IID. In order to start his vehicle each morning prior to coming to work, Mr. Nykol had to pass a state calibrated breathalyzer: CP Sub 7 OAH page 20 lines 5-19; page 29 lines 17-25; page 31 lines 3-5.

⁶ Since that time Mr. Nykol has undergone outpatient treatment for his alcoholism. Additionally, he was and is regularly attending AA meetings. CP Sub 7 OAH pages 28-29 lines 20-16; CP 10 (Finding of Fact 8.)

B. After entering the employer's facility Mr. Nykol's state calibrated breathalyzer IID would have been on the employer's premises and it could have been used to test Mr. Nykol at any time during the day to ensure that he was not using alcohol and not under the influence while employed; CP Sub 7 OAH page 30 lines 15-21; page 20 lines 15-19.

C. The employer also had its own breathalyzer service to further ensure that Mr. Nykol was not using alcohol and not under the influence while employed; CP Sub 7 OAH page 19 lines 10-12.

D. Every day, Mr. Nykol had to pass through his employer's security gates and by its own security guards who could visually inspect/search Mr. Nykol's person and his vehicle, to determine and ensure that Mr. Nykol was not using alcohol and not under the influence while employed. Also, those same security guards had the ability to search Mr. Nykol's person or his belongings at any time throughout the work day. Finally, Mr. Nykol did not work alone such that his co-workers could also monitor his behavior to ensure he was not consuming alcohol or under its influence while at work. CP Sub 7 OAH page 30, lines 15-21; page 19, lines 18-22.

Although, Mr. Nykol's regular driver's license was suspended

CP 10 (Finding of Fact 5); he was never without a valid driver's license. **CP 10**, (Finding of Facts 5 & 7); **CP Sub 7 OAH page 22**, **lines 8-17, 23-24.** Rather, following the suspension of his regular driver's license he was issued an Ignition Interlock Driver's License (IIL) pursuant to RCW 46.04.217 and his personal vehicle was equipped with an Interlock Ignition Device (IID) pursuant to RCW

46.20.385. CP 10, (Finding of Fact 5); CP Sub 7 OAH page 22, lines 8-17, 23-24; page 24, lines 15-17; page 17, lines 12-15; page 30, lines 4-14; pages 53-56.

Pursuant to RCW 46.20.385(1)(c)(i), Mr. Nykol was eligible to drive his employer's vehicle(s) and would have remained an employee if his employer had signed a declaration waiving the requirements of an IID for company vehicles. **CP 10**, (Finding of Fact 7); **CP Sub 7 OAH page 17, lines 12-15; page 29, lines 6-7; page 31, lines 1-2.**

Mr. Nykol's DUI was not work related and nothing in the record suggests that he otherwise worked while under the influence of alcohol. **CP Sub 7 OAH page 28, lines 16-19.**

Sadly, his employer refused to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability request (to have it sign the IID waiver). The employer has a blanket policy whereby it refuses to sign an IID waiver for any of its employees based upon its fear of liability to persons and property and it refuses to acknowledge its duty to analyze an employees' request for a waiver as a reasonable accommodation request under RCW 49.60.180 et.seq. **CP Sub 7 OAH page 16-17, lines 3-1; page 17, lines 16-18; page 18, lines** 2-9. Days later Mr. Nykol was terminated. CP Sub 7 OAH page 32, lines 11-14.

It must be understood that Mr. Nykol was not terminated for violating any employer rule CP Sub 7 OAH page 14-15, lines 17-2; rather, his employer terminated him simply because it refused to sign an IID waiver, which would have allowed him to utilize his valid interlock ignition license and drive for his employer. CP Sub 7 OAH page 17, lines 12-15; CP 10 (Finding of Fact 7). See also RCW 46.20.385

> The installation of an ignition interlock device is not necessary on vehicles owned, leased, or rented by a person's employer and on those vehicles whose care and/or maintenance is the temporary responsibility of the employer, and driven at the direction of a person's employer as a requirement of employment during working hours. The person must provide the department with a declaration pursuant to RCW 9A.72.085 from his or her employer stating that the person's employment requires the person to operate a vehicle owned by the employer or other persons during working hours. RCW 46.20.385(c)(1).

Thereafter, Mr. Nykol sought and was denied unemployment

benefits by ALJ Pierce. CP 9-14. That decision was later affirmed

I

by the Commissioner of the Employment Security Department and that decision was affirmed by the superior court. **CP 5-8; CP 54-56; CP 65-66. See also footnote 2 (***Supra***).**

V. ARGUMENT

A. FIRST ERROR:

The Commissioner erred by not finding and concluding that the employer failed to reasonably accommodate Mr. Nykol's disability of alcoholism as required under RCW 49.60.180 when it refused to sign a waiver of the interlock ignition device (IID) as allowed per RCW 46.20.385.

It is unlawful for an employer to discriminate against any person in the terms or conditions of employment or discharge any employee because of the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability. RCW 49.60.180(2), and (3).

An employer's failure to reasonably accommodate the sensory, mental, or physical limitations of a disabled employee constitutes discrimination unless the employer can demonstrate that such accommodation would result in an undue hardship to the employer's business. *Frisino v Seattle Sch. Dist.*, 160 Wn. App. 765; 249 P.3d 1044, (Div 1, 2011); *Pulcino v Fed. Ex.*, 141 Wn.2d 629; 9 P.3d 787, (2000)(overruled on other grounds); *Snyder v. Medical Serv. Corp*, 98 Wn. App. 315, 988 P.2d 1023 (1999) (citing *Doe v. Boeing Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 8, 16, 18, 846 P.2d 531 (1993)).

"Disability" means:

The presence of a sensory, mental, or physical impairment that:

(i) Is medically cognizable or diagnosable; or
 (ii) Exists as a record or history; or
 (iii) Is perceived to exist whether or not it exists in fact.

(b) A disability exists whether it is temporary or permanent, common or uncommon, mitigated or unmitigated, or whether or not it limits the ability to work generally or work at a particular job or whether or not it limits any other activity within the scope of this chapter.

(c) For purposes of this definition, "impairment" includes, but is not limited to:

(i) **Any physiological disorder**, or condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical loss affecting one or more of the following body systems: Neurological, musculoskeletal, special sense organs, respiratory, including speech organs, cardiovascular, reproductive, digestive, genitor-urinary, hemic and lymphatic, skin, and endocrine; or

(ii) Any mental, developmental, traumatic, or psychological disorder, including but not limited to cognitive limitation, organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental illness, and specific learning disabilities. (d) Only for the purposes of qualifying for reasonable accommodation in employment, an impairment must be known or shown through an interactive process to exist in fact and:

 The impairment must have a substantially limiting effect upon the individual's ability to perform his or her job, the individual's ability to apply or be considered for a job, or the individual's access to equal benefits, privileges, or terms or conditions of employment; or ... RCW 49.60.040(7)(a).

Based upon the definition of a disability as set forth above, alcoholism is a disability and must be viewed as any other disease or condition subject to analysis as a disability under RCW 49.60.180.

Our State Supreme Court recognized that the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) was profoundly expanded through 2007 legislative amendments. Those amendments codified the definition of disability and expanded on prior interpretations of that term. *Hale v Wellpinit School Dist.*, 165 Wn.2d 494; 198 P.3d 1021 (2009).

Here, it cannot be contested that Mr. Nykol's alcoholism was a disability as defined above. It was diagnosed and is a physiological or psychological condition.

1. <u>SINCE MR. NYKOL HAD A DISABILITY</u> <u>BOEING WAS REQUIRED TO</u> REASONABLY ACCOMMODATE IT

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