NO. 69279-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAY C. NYKOL,

Appellant,

V

EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DIONNE PADILLA-HUDDLESTON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL WSBA #38356 800 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 2000 SEATTLE, WA 98104 (206) 464-7676

2013 INN 25 PM 2: 08

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

V. ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Commissioner's decision because substantial evidence supports the findings of fact, and there are no errors of law. Nykol was discharged from his employment because his willful conduct in driving under the influence led to the revocation of his driver's license and the violation of Boeing's rule requiring a driver's license. Nykol acknowledged he knew a driver's license was a requirement of his firefighter position. AR 22-23. Consequently, the Commissioner properly

concluded Nykol engaged in disqualifying misconduct when he violated a known company rule. See RCW 50.04.294(1)(a), (2)(f).

Nevertheless, Nykol asserts he is entitled to unemployment benefits because Boeing should have accommodated his alcoholism, by executing an ignition interlock device waiver. Br. of Appellant at 3-11. Because Boeing did not execute a waiver, Nykol asserts it was Boeing's fault he was discharged. Bf. of Appellant at 2. Nykol is incorrect.

The only conduct at issue is Nykol's—whether the conduct that led to his discharge is disqualifying misconduct under the Employment Security Act. Boeing was under no obligation either to install ignition interlock devices on its vehicles or execute a waiver of that requirement. Boeing's decision to forgo both of these options is unrelated to whether Nykol engaged in disqualifying misconduct. Further, the Employment Security Act makes clear that alcoholism is not a defense to disqualification from unemployment benefits due to misconduct. See RCW 50.20.066(1).

A. The Commissioner Properly Concluded Nykol's Intentional Conduct, Which Resulted In the Loss Of His Driver's License, a Requirement For His Job, Constituted Per Se Misconduct That Disqualified Him From Receiving Unemployment Benefits

The Employment Security Act (the Act) was enacted to provide compensation to individuals who are "involuntarily" unemployed "through no fault of their own." RCW 50.01.010; *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 408. If a person is to qualify for benefits, the Act requires that the reason for the unemployment be external and apart from the claimant. *Cowles Publ'g Co. v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 15 Wn. App. 590, 593, 550 P.2d 712, 715 (1976).

A claimant is disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits when he has been discharged for "misconduct connected with his or her work." RCW 50.20.066(1). Under the Act, misconduct includes, but is not limited to:

(a) Willful . . . disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer[.]

RCW 50.04.294(1)(a). The term "willful" means intentional behavior done deliberately or knowingly, where the claimant is aware he is violating or disregarding the rights of his employer or a co-worker. WAC 192-150-205(1). "Disregard" as used in RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) is undefined by statute or regulation. In the absence of a statutory definition, courts may give a term its plain and ordinary meaning by reference to a standard dictionary. *Tenino Aerie v. Grand Aerie*, 148 Wn.2d 224, 239, 59 P.3d 655 (2002). A standard English dictionary defines "disregard" as, in relevant part: "1 a: to treat without fitting respect or attention...b. to treat as unworthy of regard or notice...2. to give no thought to: pay no

attention to." Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language at 655 (2002). Thus, the question before the Court is whether the Commissioner erred in concluding Nykol deliberately or knowingly ignored, failed to heed, or did not properly respect Boeing's interest when he, a firefighter, drove while intoxicated and consequently violated Boeing's driver's license requirement.

The current definition of misconduct was enacted in 2003.⁴ The category of misconduct set forth in RCW 50.04.294(1)(a) matches in large measure the pre-2003 definition of misconduct, with the exception that a showing of harm to the employer's business is no longer required. *See Wilson v. Emp't Sec. Dept.*, 87 Wn. App. 197, 201, 940 P.2d 269 (1997) (recognizing that "misconduct was, in part, "an employee's act or failure to act in willful disregard of his or her employer's interest."). Cases interpreting the matching portion of the prior definition are therefore instructive.

Those cases held that to amount to misconduct, an employee must have "voluntarily disregarded the employer's interest. His specific motivations for doing so, however, are not relevant." *Hamel v. Emp't Sec.*

⁴ Between 1993 and 2003, the Legislature defined misconduct "an employee's act or failure to act in willful disregard of his or her employer's interest where the effect of the employee's act or failure to act is to harm the employer's business." RCW 50.04.293. Prior to 1993, the Act included no definition of misconduct.

Dep't., 93 Wn. App. 140, 146, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998), review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1036 (1999). Furthermore, under both the prior definition and recent case law interpreting RCW 50.04.294(1)(a), an employee acts with willful disregard when he "(1) is aware of his employer's interest; (2) knows or should have known that certain conduct jeopardizes that interest; but (3) nonetheless intentionally performs the act, willfully disregarding its probable consequences." Griffith v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 163 Wn. App. 1, 9, 259 P.3d 1111 (2011) (quoting Hamel, 93 Wn. App. at 146–47).

The Act goes on to provide illustrative *per se* examples of acts that are considered misconduct because they "signify a willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee." RCW 50.04.294(2)(a)-(g). Applicable here is the Act's provision explicitly defining misconduct to include "[v]iolation of a company rule if the rule is reasonable and if the claimant knew or should have known of the existence of the rule". RCW 50.04.294(2)(f). A company rule is reasonable if it is related to the employee's job duties, is a normal business requirement or practice for the employee's occupation or industry, or is required by law or regulation. WAC 192-150-210(4). A claimant knew or should have known about an employer's rule if he was provided an employee orientation on company rules or was provided a copy or summary of the rule in writing. WAC 192-150-210(5).

1. Nykol's Conduct Amounted to Willful Disregard of His Employer's Interests

Nykol does not challenge the finding that Boeing had a rule requiring him to maintain a valid Washington State driver's license as a condition of his employment. AR 65 (FF 3). Nor does he dispute that Boeing's rule requiring a driver's license is reasonable. As the Commissioner properly noted, the driver's license was related to Nykol's job duties and was a normal requirement for his occupation as a firefighter driver/operator. AR 79. Nykol also does not dispute that he knew about the existence of the rule. AR 22-23, 65 (FF 4). And he does not dispute that he was arrested for DUI and that his driver's license was consequently revoked.

Nykol's conduct falls squarely within this category of *per se* misconduct: there was a reasonable employer rule, he knew about it, and he violated it. In his brief, Nykol all but ignores RCW 50.04.294(2)(f). But this provision cannot be ignored; it is central to this appeal. The

AR 63.

⁵ The employer's rule provided as follows:

Employees shall attain and maintain the following qualifications as conditions of holding the referenced classification:

⁽d) For all firefighters, Emergency Vehicle Accident Prevention certification as defined by applicable state regulations and a valid Washington State Driver's License.

unequivocal, plain language of RCW 50.04.294(2)(f) establishes that Nykol committed disqualifying misconduct.

The Commissioner found Nykol was "was released from employment because he failed to meet the requirements of performing his job duties since he did not possess a Washington State Driver's License." AR 65 (FF 9). Nykol's assertion that he was not terminated for this reason is belied by the record.⁶ Br. of Appellant at 10 (Assignment of Error 8), 17. There is substantial evidence in the record to support the Commissioner's characterization of why the job separation occurred. See Fred Hutchinson, 107 Wn.2d at 713 ("evidence may be substantial enough to support a factual finding even if the evidence is conflicting and could lead to other reasonable interpretations."). Boeing's representative specifically testified Nykol was terminated because "he did not meet the qualifications for the requirements of him to perform his job duties. . . . He was not able to maintain a Washington State driver's license." AR 15. And Nykol testified consistently that it was his DUI and license revocation that led to his termination. AR 28-29.

⁶ Nykol attempts to shift the analysis of his misconduct away from his own conduct and towards what Boeing could have done to keep him employed, i.e. execute the ignition interlock device waiver and allow Nykol to drive its vehicles with his restricted ignition interlock license. As explained further below, the Court should not be persuaded by this faulty analysis of what is required to establish an employee's disqualifying misconduct.

The Commissioner in Conclusion of Law 10 well summarized the facts and law applicable to Nykol's claim:

In this case, the claimant drank alcohol and drove a vehicle, resulting in a charge of driving under the influence of alcohol and the suspension of his driver's license. The claimant also knew that he was required to maintain a valid driver's license to maintain his employment. In choosing to drink and drive, the claimant knew, or should have known, that he jeopardized his ability to continue to maintain a driver's license, and therefore willfully disregarded the probable consequences of his conduct. Whether the claimant's actions resulting in the suspension of his driver's license was on the job, or on his personal time, the loss of his driving privilege was the result of a voluntary act, and resulted in his non-compliance with a reasonable employer rule. The claimants' failure to maintain a valid driver's license under these circumstances was misconduct, as defined in RCW 50.04.294.

This conclusion was a correct application of the misconduct statute and precedent. For example, in *Hamel*, an employee was discharged after repeatedly violating the employer's policy against sexual harassment despite being aware the policy. *Hamel*, 93 Wn. App. at 142-43. Like the employee in *Hamel*, Nykol engaged in intentional conduct—he was aware of the requirement he have a license but still chose to drink and drive which predictably led to the loss of his required driver's license. He therefore committed misconduct and was properly disqualified from benefits.

To be disqualifying misconduct, the conduct must be work-connected. RCW 50.20.066(1). Because Boeing's rule is reasonable, Nykol's violation of it is work-connected. Further, while RCW 50.04.294(2)(f) does not require a showing of harm in order to demonstrate misconduct, in providing guidance in determining when a claimant's conduct is "work-connected" misconduct, the Department has explained that the conduct must result in harm or create the potential for harm to the employer's interests. WAC 192-150-200(2). The harm may be tangible, such as damage to equipment or property, or intangible, such as damage to the employer's reputation. *Id*.

Before the current definition of misconduct was enacted, this Court adopted a 3-part test for determining when off-duty conduct is disqualifying misconduct: the employee's conduct (1) had some nexus with the employee's work; (2) resulted in some harm to the employer's interest; and (3) was in fact conduct which was (a) violative of some code of behavior contracted for between employer and employee, and (b) done with intent or knowledge that the employer's interest would suffer. *Nelson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 98 Wn.2d 370, 375, 655 P.2d 242 (1982). The court cited with approval the standard that "in order to show that the conduct is work-connected, [the employer must] point to some breach of a rule or regulation that has a reasonable relation to the conduct of the employer's

business." *Id.* at 374 (quoting Giese v. Empl. Div., 27 Or.App. 929, 935, 557 P.2d 1354 (1976)).

The *Nelson* court concluded the employee's shoplifting conviction was not work-connected. However, the employer in *Nelson* did not have any rule or regulation prohibiting the type of conduct at issue. In contrast, Boeing specifically required, as a basic qualification for employment, that Nykol have a driver's license. AR 60, 63. Nykol's violation of this rule harmed Boeing because it restricted his ability to drive, and thus, was work-connected.

2. Tort law and the principle of "intervening causes" do not apply to the statutory interpretation of the Employment Security Act

This case involves a matter of statutory interpretation, not the common law of torts. Nykol's invitation to import principles of tort law, specifically the principle of "intervening causes," should be rejected by this Court. While the foreseeability of the probable consequences of Nykol's intentional conduct must be considered, *Hamel*, 93 Wn. App. at 146-47, Nykol takes the analysis too far. Br. of Appellant at 24-27. Nykol cites no authority that tort principles dictate the result in an unemployment benefit appeal. Even if such authority existed, it was Nykol's drinking and driving that was the proximate case of his discharge, not any subsequent conduct by Boeing.

Nykol engaged in intentional conduct when he drank alcohol and drove a vehicle. Aware that his job required him to maintain a valid driver's license, he engaged in this conduct in willful disregard of the probable consequence that his license would be suspended or revoked, precluding him from being able to perform his job duties. AR 67 (CL 10); *Hamel*, 93 Wn. App. at 146-47. He thus willfully disregarded Boeing's interests, RCW 50.04.294(1)(a), and violated a reasonable company rule. RCW 50.04.294(2)(f). His conduct, therefore, amounted to misconduct under the Act.

B. Nykol Is Precluded From Litigtating His Disablity Acommodation Claim in an Appeal of the Denial of Unemployment Benefits

Rather than addressing the statutory definition of misconduct set forth above, Nykol attempts to shift the Court's focus away from analyzing whether he committed disqualifying misconduct and towards analyzing his alcoholism as an alleged disability Boeing was required to accommodate. Br. of Appellant at 3-11 (Assignments of Error 1-8). The Court should not be persuaded by this effort because (1) the Commissioner has no authority to adjudicate a disability claim; therefore, findings and conclusions regarding Nykol's alleged disability were unnecessary; (2) the employer was not required to execute a waiver of the ignition interlock device requirement, and its choice not to is neither

relevant to whether Nykol committed misconduct nor does it excuse Nykol's violation of the employer's rule requiring him to have a valid driver's license; and (3) pursuant to RCW 50.20.066(1), alcoholism is not a defense to disqualification due to misconduct.

The Commissioner has no authority to adjudicate a disability claim

Throughout his brief, Nykol asserts the Commissioner erred by failing to make findings and conclusions regarding his alleged disability. Br. of Appellant at 2-10. However, as discussed, the question before this Court is whether substantial evidence supports the findings actually made by the Commissioner, not whether evidence supports the findings that Nykol wishes the Commissioner had made. *See Wm. Dickson Co.*, 81 Wn. App. at 407. More importantly, the issue before the Commissioner was not whether Boeing was justified as a matter of employment law in terminating Nykol, but rather whether the facts surrounding Nykol's discharge meet the test for misconduct. *See Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 412.

In *Smith*, the court held that in an appeal of the denial of unemployment benefits, whether an employer terminated its employee in retaliation for his whistleblowing activities was not an issue properly before the Court of Appeals. *Smith*, 155 Wn. App. at 41. It is a subject for a jury to determine in a wrongful termination action and not relevant to

the court's review of an agency's decision to deny an application for benefits. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Haney v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 96 Wn. App. 129, 138 n.2, 978 P.2d 543 (1999), this Court declined to decide the issue of whether a protected activity under the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) can constitute disqualifying misconduct under the Act. This Court stated: "[I]nterjecting NLRA principles into unemployment compensation cases involving individual claimants not covered under the NLRA would not further the purposes of the NLRA or the [Employment Secuirty Act], and would inevitably lead to unnecessary confusion regarding what does or does not constitute disqualifying misconduct under the [Act]."). *Id.* at 137.

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